RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-19-2019 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS Appeal No. 2019AP548-OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

vs.

Trial Court Case No. 16-CF-1401

KEITH C. HENYARD,

Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON THE 13^{TH} DAY OF OCTOBER, 2017 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN, JUDGE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER PRESIDING, AND DENYING MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED ON THE 4^{TH} DAY OF MARCH, 2019 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN, THE HONORABLE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER PRESIDING.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred when it failed to allow the Defendant-Appellant, Keith C. Henyard to withdraw his plea due to an actual conflict of interest which existed in his case as his former trial counsel, Attorney Frank J Parise, presided over Mr. Henyard's preliminary hearing in the same case as court commissioner on December 28, 2016?

Answered by trial court: Defendant's motion denied.

2. Whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied Mr. Henyard's request for resentencing in the above entitled matter, before a different judge, on the basis of a judicial bias it had in Mr. Henyard's case prior to a plea or sentencing, that the trial court had against heroin and/or drug delivery offenses?

Answered by trial court: Defendant's motion denied.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant, Keith C. Henyard, requests both oral argument and publication of the Court's opinion as the issues presented herein are a matter of statewide importance as there is no reported case dealing with the

issue of plea withdrawal due to an actual conflict of interest when an acting court commissioner presides over a preliminary hearing, and then is retained, in that same case, by a defendant to act as his trial counsel. Additionally, the issue of judicial bias is also one of statewide importance as well given the issue contained herein. Additionally, publication of the Court's opinion will further develop the law on the issue of an actual conflict of interest, as well as judicial bias when faced with a situation of plea withdrawal and a concomitant request for a resentencing.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Defendant-Appellant, Keith C. Henyard, was charged criminal complaint with in three counts of а manufacture/deliver cocaine on or near a park as а repeater, one count of manufacture/deliver cocaine as а repeater, one count manufacture/deliver heroin on or near a park as a repeater, one count manufacture/deliver heroin as a repeater, one count of possession with intent to deliver cocaine as a repeater, and one count of possession with intent to deliver heroin as a repeater, in an 8 count criminal complaint filed on December 21, 2016. (1:1-8). An initial appearance was held on the matter on December 21,

2016. (57:1-6). Thereafter, a preliminary hearing was held December 28, 2016. (58:1-7).

The preliminary hearing took place on December 28, 2016 in case number 16-CF-1401, State of Wisconsin v. Keith C. Henyard-Defendant. (58:1-7). At that preliminary hearing the Honorable Frank J. Parise, acting Court Commissioner, presided over Mr. Henyard's case. (58:1). At that hearing, acting Court Commissioner Parise took a waiver of a right to a preliminary hearing and asked Mr. Henyard several questions about his understanding of that waiver. (58:3-4). At the conclusion of the hearing, the Court was satisfied that Mr. Henyard freely, voluntarily and intelligently waived his right to a preliminary hearing. (58:4-5). Additionally, the Court stated as follows:

> I am satisfied further that I have reviewed the complaint and that there is probable cause to bind this matter over for trial. (58:5).

Thus, Mr. Henyard's case was bound over for trial by Commissioner Parise. (58:7).

Several other hearings were held in this matter, the most important of which was the status conference wherein Mr. Henyard substituted his current counsel for Frank J. Parise. (64:1-4). This occurred at the status conference on

May 30, 2017 wherein Mr. Henyard's current attorney was allowed to withdraw and Attorney Parise was substituted in his place. (64:2). In a previous hearing on May 18, 2017, Mr. Henyard indicated to the Court that he had spoken to Frank Parise the week previous and that a discussion ensued over money and retaining his services. (63:1-2).

The case then proceeded in the trial court and a hearing was held on August 7, 2017, through a final pretrial on August 16, 2017, and finally to a jury selection which had been scheduled, which subsequently turned into a plea hearing on August 21, 2017. (65:1-10; 66:1-7; 67:1-14). At the plea hearing on August 21, 2017, Mr. Henyard plead guilty to an amended information which was filed on that date, to counts 1, 6, 7, and 8. (67:2). In return, counts 2-5 would be dismissed and read-in. The State's recommendation would be prison with 10 years initial confinement and then no specific recommendation as to the length of the extended supervision. (67:1). Thus, Mr. Henyard plead to count 1, delivery of cocaine, less than 1 gram as a habitual offender; count 6, delivery of heroin as a habitual offender, in an amount less than 3 grams; count 7, possession with intent to deliver cocaine, less than 1 gram as a habitual offender; and count 8, possession with

intent to deliver heroin, 3-10 grams as a habitual offender. (67:3-4). The remaining charges would be dismissed/read-in. Additionally, the Court explained that the District Attorney would be recommending up to 10 years initial confinement and would be free to recommend whatever length of extended supervision he saw fit, which could extend to occupy the entire balance of the potential imprisonment in each of the charges. (67:4). The dismissed counts were also to be read-in (67:4). Mr. Henyard entered pleas to all of those counts recited above. (67:9-12). Thereafter, the matter was set on for a sentencing hearing. (67:13).

The sentencing hearing was held on October 12, 2017. (68:1-23). At the sentencing hearing, on count 6, the Court sentenced Mr. Henyard to a term of 12 years initial confinement followed by a period of 5 years extended supervision. (68:20). On all other counts, the sentence was withheld and Mr. Henyard was placed on a period of probation to the Department of Corrections for a term of 6 years on each count with withheld sentences. (68:20). The probationary period was consecutive to the sentence imposed. (68:20-21). At that time Mr. Henyard had 195 days sentence credit, however, the credit was changed at the

post-conviction motion hearing as Mr. Henyard actually had 204 days sentence credit, which was granted by the trial court in Mr. Henyard's post-conviction motion. (54:1).

Thereafter, Mr. Henyard filed a notice of motion and motion for post-conviction relief on December 3, 2018. (48:1-31). The basis for the motion for post-conviction relief is the basis for Mr. Henyard's appeal, as outlined in the statement of issues which preceeds the statement of facts contained herein. A motion hearing was held on this matter on February 4, 2019. (69:1-46).

At that motion hearing, the Court granted 9 days of additional sentence credit on the original judgment. (54:1). At that hearing, Mr. Henyard's trial attorney, Frank J. Parise, testified on the issue of acting as both court commissioner and trial attorney on Mr. Henyard's case. Attorney Parise testified that he did not recall acting as court commissioner on December 28, 2016. (69:14). However, Attorney Parise had the opportunity to review the pleadings in this matter, as well as the attachment for the preliminary hearing transcript as well. (69:14). In that transcript, it indicated that, in fact, he had acted as court commissioner on December 28, 2016 over Mr. Henyard's case. (69:15). Attorney Parise could not dispute this fact.

(69:15). Attorney Parise thus acted as court commissioner over Mr. Henyard's case at his preliminary examination on December 28, 2016. (69:15). Although Mr. Parise testified that he did not recognize Mr. Henyard at any point throughout the representation, he did admit that he recalled doing a conflict check in Mr. Henyard's case, but that he simply missed it. (69:16-17). At no point did Attorney Parise alert the Court that he acted as court commissioner in Mr. Henyard's case. (69:19). Ultimately, it was Attorney Parise's advice to accept the plea deal that was offered to Mr. Henyard. (69:20).

The second part of the motion hearing dealt with judicial bias and handing out stiff sentences to those who are dealing in drugs and heroin. (69:39-40). In Mr. Henyard's case, there were comments made by the trial court before a sentence or plea was ever entered regarding plea trial publicity, and the Court's thoughts regarding dealing in heroin and how very stiff sentences should be handed out in those cases. (69:39-40). The Court, after having reviewed the motion said he would issue a written decision in this matter. (69:44-45).

A written decision was made in this matter on March 4, 2019. In that order, the Court denied Mr. Henyard's motion

for plea withdrawal as well as his request for a resentencing and/or recusal for a resentencing before a different judge. (54:1-5).

A notice of appeal from the decision and order denying post-conviction relief was thereafter filed on March 8, 2019. (56:1-11). The record was filed in this matter with the Wisconsin Court of Appeals on April 29, 2019. The basis for this appeal is the denial of the Defendant's motion for post-conviction relief. The remaining relevant statement of facts will be contained in the argument section as contained herein to avoid repetition.

ARGUMENT

Ι

As an actual conflict of interest existed between retained counsel, Attorney Parise, as Attorney Parise also acted as court commissioner in the Defendant-Appellant's case, and this was a non-waivable conflict, which was not brought to the attention of the trial court at any time, the Defendant-Appellant's plea should have been allowed to have been withdrawn by the trial court at the post-conviction evidentiary hearing.

In Wisconsin, pursuant to SCR 20: 1.12, a lawyer shall not represent anyone in connection with a matter in which a

lawyer participated personally and substantially as a judge or other adjudicative officer or law clerk to such a person or arbitrator, mediator, or other third-party neutral. See SCR 20: 1.12(a). The *Wisconsin Committee Comment* to SCR 20: 1.12(a) states as follows:

> Paragraph (a) differs from the Model Rule in that the conflict identified is not subject to waiver by consent of the parties involved. As such paragraph [2] of ABA Comment should be read with caution. Paragraph (d) differs in that written consent of the parties is required. See Wisconsin Committee Comment SCR 20: 1.12.

Thus, Court Commissioner Frank Parise was barred from representing Mr. Henyard in his case, as he presided over Mr. Henyard's case as Court Commissioner, making a probable cause finding. See SCR 20: 1.12(a). Additionally, the conflict was not at any time waivable. See Wisconsin Committee Comment SCR 20: 1.12. Thus, even if the matter had been discussed by Attorney Parise, with Mr. Henyard, and even if Attorney Parise knew, or should have known, had presided as Court Commissioner over he that Mr. Henyard's case, the same case which he was retained on, this would not be a waivable conflict of interest. In other words, if this was ever brought to the trial court's attention, Attorney Parise would have had to have been

discharged pursuant to Wisconsin law, as Mr. Henyard's attorney of record. See SCR 20: 1.12(a); *Wisconsin Committee Comment* SCR 20: 1.12.

The Sixth Amendment guarantees defendants effective, albeit not perfect, representation by counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 691-96, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2066-69, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); United States v. Bradshaw, 719 F.2d 907, 911 (7th Cir. 1983). See generally Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 62 S. Ct. 457, 86 L. Ed. 680 (1942). An "actual" conflict of interest means "that the defense attorney was required to make a choice advancing his own interests to the detriment of his client's interests," United States v. Horton, 845 F.2d 1414, 1419 (7th Cir. 1988) (citing United States v. Marrera, 768 F.2d 201, 207 (7th Cir. 1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S. Ct. 1209, 89 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1986)), and "which, by its nature, is so threatening [as] to justify a presumption that the adequacy of representation was affected." United States v. Cancilla, 725 F.2d 867, 870(2d Cir. 1984).

Generally speaking, ineffective assistance of counsel claims are governed by the standard set forth in <u>Strickland</u>, i.e., that "counsel's performance fell below minimum professional standards, [and] also that his

counsel's failure was so prejudicial that it probably changes the outcome of his trial." Horton, 845 F.2d at 1418 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691-96, 104 S. Ct. at 2066-69). But where a conflict of interest is the basis for the Sixth Amendment claim, then prejudice may or may not be presumed. "If the defendant or his attorney give the trial court notice of an alleged conflict, and the trial court fails to inquire into the conflict, a reviewing court will presume prejudice upon a showing of possible prejudice." Horton, 845 F.2d at 1418 (citing Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475, 487-88, 98 S. Ct. 1173, 1180-81, 55 L. Ed. 2d 426 (1978); Walberg, 766 F.2d at 1075; Marrera, 768 F.2d at 205-06)). The Seventh Cicuit has determined that possible prejudice was shown where the judge was in conflict with the defendant's attorney, even though the defendant, in addition to overwhelming evidence of guilt, was not necessarily prejudiced at trial or at sentencing because judge did nothing during the trial to indicate the prejudice against the defendant. Walberg, 766 F.2d at 1075.

The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has spoken on this issue in <u>U.S. v. Ziegenhagen</u>, 890 F.2d 937 (7th Cir. 1989). In that case, the defendant Ziegenhagen was represented by one Attorney Martin Hanson. U.S. v.

Ziegenhagen, 898 F.2d at 938. Unbeknownst to anyone, Hanson appeared 20 years earlier at the sentencing hearing on behalf of the Racine County District Attorney's office to the length of sentence to recommend be imposed on Ziegenhagen, on two of the convictions that the government had relied upon to enhance his present sentence in U.S. v. Ziegenhagen. Id. Without being aware of the role in Ziegenhagen's prior convictions, Attorney Hanson filed a motion to bar application of the sentencing enhancing statute, on the ground that one of the earlier convictions, a 20 year old burglary conviction in Wisconsin, did not qualify as a predicate offense. See Ziegenhagen at 939. sentencing, Attorney Hanson discovered Prior to his Ziegenhagen's earlier convictions involvement in and sentences 20 years earlier. Id. He discussed the possible conflict with the prosecutor in the case, and informed the client. Id. Ziegenhagen did not say anything after the disclosure, and no one informed the district judge of those facts. Id.

The case proceeded to the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Ziegenhagen's motion requested a change of counsel from Attorney Martin Hanson to Attorney Deutsch because of the alleged conflict of interest stemming from Hanson's

appearance against Ziegenhagen at Ziegenhagen's sentencing hearing in Racine, 20 years earlier. See <u>Ziegenhagen</u> at 939.

In concluding that an actual conflict of interest existed in Ziegenhagen, the Court determined that it must remand the matter to the District Court for an evidentiary hearing to determine whether or not Ziegenhagen waived the conflict. See U.S. v. Ziegenhagen, at 941. The Court reasoned that ineffective assistance of counsel claims are governed by the standards set forth in Strickland, that "counsel's performance fell below minimum professional standards, [and] also that his counsel's failure was so prejudicial that it probably changed the outcome of his trial." See Ziegenhagen, quoting Horton, 845 F.2d at 1418 (citing Strickland, 466 US at 691-696, 104 S. Ct. at 2066-69). The Court further found that, where a conflict of interest is the basis for a Sixth Amendment claim, prejudice may or may not be presumed. "If the defendant or his attorney give the trial court notice of an alleged conflict, and the trial court fails to inquire into the conflict, a reviewing court will presume prejudice upon a showing of possible prejudice." Id quoting Horton at 1418 (citing Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 US 475, 487-88. This all

presumed that the trial court was given notice. Id. However, nothing in the affidavit's of either counsel or Ziegenhagen, or the motion itself, indicated that the trial court was appraised of the potential conflict of interest prior to trial or sentencing. See U.S. v. Ziegenhagen, at 940. The Seventh Circuit did note, however, that it was given notice of the conflicting interest. It also noted that not every conflict of interest is "so egregious" as to constitute a violation of the Sixth Amendment," but government employment in a prosecutorial role against one defendant and subsequent representation of that defendant in a defense capacity is not proper. See Ziegenhagen, at 940, citing Westbrook v. Zant, 575 F.2d 186, 189 (M.D.Ga. 1983). United States v. Kitchin, 592 F.2d 900 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 843, 100 S. Ct. 86, 62 L. Ed. 2d 56 (1979); Model Code of Professional Responsibility DR 9-101(B)(1987) (an attorney "shall accept private not matter in which he has employment in a substantial responsibility while he was a public employee). Thus, in prosecutorial that Ziegenhagen's case, the role Ziegenhagen's counsel took in the earlier convictions was substantial enough to represent an actual conflict of interest. Although not the prosecuting attorney of record,

Attorney Hanson appeared at the sentencing hearing to recommend the length of sentence in the convictions for the burglary and robbery, convictions used to enhance Ziegenhagen's present sentence. See <u>U.S. v. Ziegenhagen</u>, at 941.

Thus, this former representation amounted to an actual conflict of interest, and the Seventh Circuit had been given notice of it. Id. Despite the fact that Ziegenhagen had been convicted by a jury of the present offense, this did not mean that Attorney Hanson could not decide his defense strategy, either at sentencing, or on appeal on the basis of the conflict. Id. Needless to say, according to the Seventh Circuit, there are countless ways that a conflict could have hindered a fair trial, the sentencing hearing, or even the appeal. Id. The Court could not say that there was nothing another attorney could have argued based upon the record, to more zealously advocate on this defendant's behalf and thus, it presumed Ziegenhagen was prejudiced by Hanson's representation. Id. See also Horton, 845 F.2d at 1418-20; U.S. v. Rossbach, 701 F.2d 713, 717 (8th Cir. 1983).

The Seventh Circuit was also disturbed by the fact that Hanson learned of the conflict, could have informed

the trial court of the facts, but did not do so. <u>Id</u> at 941. An actual conflict of interest between retained counsel and a represented party requires an evidentiary hearing to determine whether or not the represented party made a knowing and intelligent waiver of the conflict. <u>Id</u>. Thus, an actual conflict of interest existed requiring an evidentiary hearing according to the Seventh Circuit in <u>Ziegenhagen</u>. <u>Id</u>.

On December 28, 2016, Keith C. Henyard appeared at a preliminary hearing before the Kenosha County Circuit Court. The Honorable Frank J. Parise was presiding as Court Commissioner at that time. (58:1). Mr. Henyard, at the time of the preliminary hearing was represented by Jonathan Smith. (58:1). The State of Wisconsin Carver was represented by Special Prosecutor K. Richard Wells. (58:1-7). At that hearing, Mr. Henyard waived his right to a preliminary hearing. (58:3-4). The Court questioned Mr. Henyard regarding his waiver. At the conclusion of the hearing the Court stated as follows:

> The Court: Okay. Then I am satisfied that Mr. Henyard has freely, voluntarily, and intelligently waived his right to a preliminary hearing. I am satisfied further that I have reviewed the complaint and that there

is probable cause to bind this matter over for trial. (58:4-5).

The matter was then bound over for trial before Judge Bastianelli, Circuit Court Branch 1. Thus, Commissioner Frank Parise, Mr. Henyard's later trial counsel, made a probable cause finding at the conclusion of the preliminary hearing as court commissioner, and bound the entire matter over for trial. (58:7).

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