#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-20-2019

## COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2019AP548-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KEITH C. HENYARD,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

315 N.W.2d 337 (1982). Rather, "[a]n actual conflict of interest exists when the defendant's attorney was actively representing a conflicting interest, so that the attorney's performance was adversely affected." *Love*, 227 Wis. 2d at 71; see also State v. Owen, 202 Wis. 2d 620, 639, 551 N.W.2d 50 (Ct. App. 1996) (providing that an actual conflict occurs when an "attorney's advocacy is somehow adversely affected by the competing loyalties"); and Street, 202 Wis. 2d at 542 (providing that "a defendant who did not raise an objection at trial must demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that his or her counsel had an actual conflict of interest and that the actual conflict of interest adversely affected his or her lawyer's performance.").

## C. Attorney Parise's performance was not adversely affected by any competing loyalties.

The question for this Court is whether Henyard made a showing by clear and convincing evidence that Parise was actively representing conflicting interests and, as a result, his representation of Henyard was adversely affected. Henyard does not make this showing.

Henyard claims that there was an actual conflict of interest because Parise previously acted as court commissioner and, as commissioner, he found probable cause and bound Henyard over for trial. (Henyard's Br. 8, 19, 23.) Henyard is wrong.

As the postconviction court found, Henyard had "full awareness of Commissioner Parise's earlier role in his case when he selected and employed him." (R. 54:2.) The court continued: "Fully aware of the dual role, Mr. Henyard knowingly and voluntarily chose to enter a guilty plea based on a substantial charge reduction and sentence recommendation concession." (*Id.*) The court found that Henyard "knew that his attorney had presided at the

bindover, and nevertheless voluntarily entered his plea, indicating that he was satisfied with the legal services which he had received." (*Id.*) The general rule is that "a defendant who validly waives his right to conflict-free representation also waives the right to claim ineffective assistance of counsel based on the conflict." *State v. Demmerly*, 2006 WI App 181, ¶ 16, 296 Wis. 2d 153, 722 N.W.2d 585. And in this case, it would be illogical to let Henyard withdraw his plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel when he knowingly waived his right to conflict-free representation.

But Henyard argues that this is a non-waivable conflict. (Henyard's Br. 8, 19.) Henyard notes that Supreme Court Rule 20:1.12 prohibits a lawyer from representing a party in connection with a matter where the lawyer participated "personally and substantially as a judge or other adjudicative officer." He relies on a Committee Comment to this Rule, which provides that such a conflict is not subject to waiver. (Henyard's Br. 9, 18–19, citing Committee Comment SCR 20:1.12.) According to Henyard, "under Wisconsin law," this is not a waivable conflict. (Henyard's Br. 18.) But Committee Comments to rules of professional conduct are not law or controlling authority. State v. Williquette, 190 Wis. 2d 677, 692, 526 N.W.2d 144 (1995); see also Wenke v. Gehl Co., 2004 WI 103, ¶ 47, n.25, 274 Wis. 2d 220, 682 N.W.2d 405. Therefore, contrary to Henyard's suggestion, this Committee Comment does not control.

And, Henyard points to no case law that provides a trial court *is required* to reject a defendant's voluntary waiver of the right to conflict-free representation. Doing so would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> While *State v. Demmerly*, also provided that "[t]here may be instances in which counsel's performance is deficient *and* unreasonably so even in light of the waived conflict of interest," 2006 WI App 181, ¶ 17, 296 Wis. 2d 153, 722 N.W.2d 585, this is not one of those instances.

infringe upon a defendant's right to retain counsel of his or her choice.

But Henyard argues that a violation of SCR 20:1.12 constitutes an actual conflict of interest that causes counsel to automatically be deemed ineffective. (Henyard's Br. 19– 20.) This is incorrect. The law in Wisconsin is that an actual conflict of interest exists "only when the attorney's advocacy is somehow adversely affected by the competing loyalties." See State v. Cobbs, 221 Wis. 2d 101, 107, 584 N.W.2d 709 (Ct. App. 1998) (citation omitted). And as the postconviction court correctly determined, "[w]hile it is true that Attorney Parise's actions as court commissioner in binding [Henyard] over for trial would have resulted in his removal as later attorney for him had the court timely been made aware of that fact, it does not follow that the remedy of plea withdrawal is appropriate." (R. 54:2.) Even if Attorney Parise violated SCR 20:1.12 by being "personally and substantially" involved, Henyard must still make a showing that this conflict of interest adversely affected his Attorney's performance. (R. 54:2–3, citing Owens, 202 Wis. 2d at 639.)

In *Street*, this Court considered whether an actual conflict of interest creates a violation of the right to effective assistance of counsel. 202 Wis. 2d 533. Like Henyard's case, *Street* concerned an attorney that the defendant had retained. The same attorney was also representing the detective in the case in the detective's divorce proceeding. *Id.* at 538. *Street* provided that "[i]n order to establish a Sixth Amendment violation on the basis of a conflict of interest, a defendant who did not raise an objection at trial must demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that his or her counsel had an actual conflict of interest and that the actual conflict of interest adversely affected his or her lawyer's performance." *Id.* at 542.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has also addressed a similar situation in *Love*, 227 Wis. 2d 60. In that case, a

former prosecutor represented the State in a sentencing hearing for Love, and that prosecutor later became an assistant public defender. That former prosecutor ended up representing the defendant in a later sentencing after revocation hearing. *Id.* at 64–65. Ultimately, because Love had not shown his attorney knowingly failed to disclose her prior representation of the State, nor that she represented the defendant in a manner that adversely affected the defendant's interests, the supreme court did not find a violation of the defendant's right to counsel. *Id.* at 83–84.

Despite Wisconsin case law directly on this issue, Henyard argues that this Court should instead follow a Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals case, *United States v. Ziegenhagen*, 890 F.2d 937 (7th Cir. 1989), and find a *per se*, automatic violation of his right to counsel. (Henyard's Br. 11–24.) But *Ziegenhagen* is inapposite and it does not, contrary to Henyard's request, "control." (Henyard's Br. 20.)

In Ziegenhagen, the defendant was represented on a firearms possession charge by counsel who appeared on behalf of the district attorney's office twenty years earlier to recommend a sentence on two convictions. 890 F.2d at 938. The government intended to use those two 20-year-old convictions to enhance Ziegenhagen's sentence on the possession charge. *Id.* Counsel learned of his role in Ziegenhagen's former sentencing proceeding prior to trial, and counsel discussed the possible conflict with the prosecutor (who felt there was no conflict) and with Ziegenhagen (who did not say anything regarding that information). *Id.* at 939. However, counsel did not inform the district court of the situation. *Id.* 

The Seventh Circuit found "[t]his former representation amounted to an actual conflict of interest," noting "the prosecutorial role that Ziegenhagen's counsel took in the earlier convictions was substantial enough to represent an actual conflict of interest." *Id.* at 940–41. Upon finding a conflict, the Seventh Circuit went on to explain:

Despite the fact that Ziegenhagen had been convicted by a jury of the present offense, that does not mean that [his counsel] could not decide his defense strategy either at sentencing or on appeal on the basis of the conflict. Needless to say, there may be countless ways in which the conflict could have hindered a fair trial, the sentencing hearing or even this appeal. We cannot say that there was nothing another attorney could have argued based on the record to more zealously advocate on this defendant's behalf. Thus, we presume Ziegenhagen was prejudiced by [counsel's] representation.

#### Id. at 941 (citation omitted).

In Ziegenhagen, decided in 1989, the Seventh Circuit did not have the United States Supreme Court's clarification in 2002 that "an actual conflict of interest' mean[s] precisely a conflict that affected counsel's performance—as opposed to a mere theoretical division of loyalties." Mickens v. Taylor, 535 U.S. 162, 171 (2002). Therefore, the above-excerpted passage in Ziegenhagen indicates that the Seventh Circuit did not apply that standard. Instead, because the Seventh Circuit could not say that the conflict did not affect counsel's performance, it presumed prejudice. Ziegenhagen, 890 F.2d at 941.

Further, in finding a Sixth Amendment violation, Ziegenhagen held, categorically, that "government

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mickens v. Taylor also held that a defendant must "establish that the conflict of interest adversely affected his counsel's performance." 535 U.S. 162, 174 (2002). See also Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350 (1980) (providing that where the trial court is not apprised of the potential conflict, then reversal of the conviction will only be had upon a showing that "an actual conflict of interest adversely affected" counsel's performance.).

employment in a prosecutorial role against one defendant and subsequent representation of that defendant in a defense capacity is not proper." *Id.* at 940. Henyard is urging this Court to apply this broader, *per se* rule to his case. (*See* Henyard's Br. 20, 24.) It shouldn't. As the postconviction court in this case determined, "[t]he fact that Attorney Parise ought not have accepted the defendant's offered employment does not *ipso facto* amount to a conflict of interest." (R. 54:3.) And, as this Court has provided, determining what constitutes an actual conflict of interest requires looking to the fact of each particular case. *State v. Villarreal*, 2013 WI App 33, ¶ 9, 346 Wis. 2d 690, 828 N.W.2d 866 (citing *Love*, 227 Wis. 2d at 71).

And in this case, Henyard argues that because Attorney Parise was once a court commissioner and then later "advised Mr. Henyard that he should take a plea," he was adversely affected. (Henyard's Br. 18.) According to Henyard, as court commissioner, Parise had "pre-judged" Henyard's case. (Id. at 17.) But these are the definition of conclusory allegations. Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 21. Henyard points to no specific defect in Parise's strategy, tactics, or decision-making. He points to no facts in the record to support his assertion that Parise's role in ordering a bindover adversely affected his later representation of Henyard. Indeed, as Parise testified, it was Henyard who wanted to enter into a plea agreement because he wanted to minimize the time incarcerated. (R. 69:19.) According to Parise, "[Henyard's] objective basically to me was, 'They got me. I know who the CI is, and so I just want you to cut a better deal than what's been proposed previously through my other attorney." (R. 69:22.) Further, as the postconviction court determined:

Nothing in the function performed by Commissioner Parise in accepting the waiver of preliminary and ordering a bindover was in any way inimical to [Henyard's] interests. . . . Commissioner Parise heard no evidence and found no facts, performing what was most likely understood by the

parties and in fact amounted to little more than a ministerial act. There was nothing close to a conflict of interest in this case, and there is no basis in state or federal constitutional law to artificially create one merely because of a rule violation.

(R. 54:3.) The postconviction court noted that Parise "negotiated a plea agreement where Henyard's total potential prison exposure was reduced from 162 years to 67.5 years in the amended information." (*Id.*) And, it further noted that nothing *Commissioner* Parise did in accepting Henyard's waiver of a preliminary hearing and ordering a bindover "was inimical to Henyard's interests." (*Id.*) The record does not show an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected Parise's performance as Henyard's lawyer.

Henyard has failed in his effort to show such an actual conflict that adversely affected Parise's performance. And so he is essentially asking this Court to forgo requiring a showing of adverse effects and instead adopt a per se rule as annunciated in Ziegenhagen. But the United States Supreme Court, the Wisconsin Supreme Court, and this Court have rejected this rule and instead require a defendant to demonstrate an adverse effect. Because there was no adverse effect, there was no actual conflict of interest in Attorney Parise's representation. As Henyard has not shown that there was an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected Attorney Parise's performance, this Court should affirm the postconviction court's denial of Henyard's request to withdraw his plea.

II. The postconviction court correctly denied Henyard's motion for resentencing because Henyard fails to show by a preponderance of the evidence that Judge Schroeder appeared biased or was actually biased.

Henyard alternatively requests resentencing because Judge Schroeder harbored a judicial bias against those who are convicted of delivering heroin and other drugs. (Henyard's Br. 24.) This Court should reject this argument. Judge Schroeder's comments on other cases were not a prejudgment in *Henyard's* sentencing.

#### A. Henyard has a high burden to show bias.

A biased judge is "constitutionally unacceptable." *State v. Herrmann*, 2015 WI 84, ¶ 25, 364 Wis. 2d 336, 876 N.W.2d 772 (lead opinion). A judge is presumed to have "acted fairly, impartially, and without prejudice." *Id.* ¶ 24. The burden of rebutting this presumption is on the party asserting bias, which it must do by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.*; *State v. Neuaone*, 2005 WI App 124, ¶ 16, 284 Wis. 2d 473, 700 N.W.2d 298. This is a question the appellate court reviews de novo by evaluating the existence of bias in both a subjective and an objective light. *State v. Rochelt*, 165 Wis. 2d 373, 379, 477 N.W.2d 659 (Ct. App. 1991).

The subjective component is satisfied by examining the judge's own determination of whether he will be able to act impartially. State v. McBride, 187 Wis. 2d 409, 415, 523 N.W.2d 106 (Ct. App. 1994). The test for objective bias asks whether a reasonable person could question the judge's impartiality. State v. Gudgeon, 2006 WI App 143, ¶ 20, 295 Wis. 2d 189, 720 N.W.2d 114. There are two types of objective bias. See id. ¶¶ 23–24. The first is the appearance of bias. See id. "[T]he appearance of bias offends constitutional due process principles whenever a reasonable person—taking into consideration human psychological tendencies and weaknesses—concludes that the average judge could not be trusted to 'hold the balance nice, clear and true' under all the circumstances." Id. ¶ 24. "[T]he appearance of partiality constitutes objective bias [if] a reasonable person could question the [judge's] impartiality. State v. Goodson, 2009 WI App 107, ¶ 9, 320 Wis. 2d 166, 771 N.W.2d 385. The second type of objective bias occurs where "there are objective facts

demonstrating . . . the 'trial judge in fact treated [the defendant] unfairly." *McBride*, 187 Wis. 2d at 416 (citation omitted).

A judge's negative comments do not automatically indicate bias. *State v. Pirtle*, 2011 WI App 89, ¶ 34, 334 Wis. 2d 211, 799 N.W.2d 492. At sentencing, the judge must discuss the gravity of the offense, which includes acknowledging the effects of the crime on the community or specific victims. *See Herrmann*, 364 Wis. 2d 336, ¶ 65 (lead opinion). As a result, the judge may make comments that do not cast the defendant in a positive light. *See id*. ¶¶ 63–66.

## B. Henyard has waived the argument that Judge Schroeder appeared biased or was actually biased.

First, Henyard never raised an issue of judicial bias with Judge Schroeder. He never asked Judge Schroeder to recuse himself or take other action because of his alleged bias. As such, Henyard has waived his right to make this argument. See State v. Ledger, 175 Wis. 2d 116, 135, 499 N.W.2d 198 (Ct. App. 1993) (providing, "a party must raise and argue an issue with some prominence to allow the trial court to address the issue and make a ruling."). But even if this Court reaches this argument, it has no merit.

### C. Henyard fails to show either an appearance of bias or actual bias.

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